No. 19-120555-A

**IN THE
COURT OF APPEALS OF THE
STATE OF KANSAS**

STATE OF KANSAS
Plaintiff-Appellee

vs.

REBECCA ANN STEWART
Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Bourbon County, Kansas
Honorable Mark A. Ward, Judge
District Court Case No. 18CR30

Hope E. Faflick Reynolds, #27951
Appellate Defender
Kansas Appellate Defender Office
Jayhawk Tower
700 Jackson, Suite 900
Topeka, Kansas 66603
(785) 296-5484
(785) 296- 2869 FAX
adoservice@sbids.org
Attorney for Defendant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Stewart pled guilty to one count of possession of methamphetamine, a severity level five drug felony. (R.5, 10). The district court sentenced Ms. Stewart to serve a 23 month prison sentence, despite the parties' joint recommendation for probation. (R.8, 6, 10). Ms. Stewart appeals her sentence.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Issue I: The district court abused its discretion in sentencing Ms. Stewart.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Pursuant to a plea agreement, Ms. Stewart pled guilty to one count of possession of methamphetamine, a severity level five drug felony. (R.5, 10). The parties entered the plea agreement expecting Ms. Stewart's criminal history score to be "C," but later agreed the correct score was "D" because some juvenile convictions had decayed. (R.8, 4). Based on Ms. Stewart's criminal history score and the severity level of the crime, the presumptive sentence fell in a "border box," meaning the district court could order either prison time or probation. (R.8, 4). Additionally, a special rule applied because the crime occurred while Ms. Stewart was serving probation in another case. (R.8, 4).

At sentencing, the State waived the applicability of the special rule. (R.8, 5). The parties jointly recommended probation with an underlying prison sentence of 24 months. (R.8, 5-6). Defense counsel explained an error in the PSI, clarifying Ms. Stewart's pending criminal cases were in Labette County rather than Neosho County. (R.8, 5-7). The parties stipulated that drug treatment programs were available and that Ms. Stewart would be amenable to treatment. (R.8, 5-6, 10).

Nevertheless, the district judge imposed prison sentence of 23 months. (R.8, 9).

The judge explained the reasons for his sentence:

There has been no evidence presented that an appropriate treatment program exists which is likely to be more effective than the presumptive prison term and reducing the risk of offender recidivism and that program is available, **nor any evidence** that the non-prison sanction would serve community safety interests by promoting offender reformation. In fact, just the opposite. I'm looking at extensive criminal history, in addition to pending criminal cases in Labette, Neosho, and perhaps even Oklahoma.

(R.8, 9) (emphasis added). Defense counsel protested, explaining he thought the stipulation would be sufficient evidence for the court to grant probation. (R.8, 10-11).

Defense counsel asked for a continuance. (R.8, 10-11). The judge denied the continuance and further explained his decision:

It just does not appear to me that this is a case for probation for the Court to ignore the law. A border box, in fact, is supposed to be a prison sentence. But on top of that, you've got the special rule that also applies that says I'm going to send you to prison. I just don't see any reasons for the Court to use any discretion **not to follow the law on this case...**"

(R.8, 11-12) (emphasis added).

Ms. Stewart filed a timely notice of appeal. (R.1, 81).

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

Issue I: The district court abused its discretion in sentencing Ms. Stewart.

Introduction

The district judge abused his discretion when he found drug treatment programs did not exist and were not available despite the parties' stipulation otherwise.

Preservation

Ms. Stewart's counsel preserved this issue for appeal at sentencing, indicating he would file a motion to reconsider and asking to continue the balance of the hearing to allow an opportunity to present evidence regarding the treatment program. (R.8, 10). He explained he had not anticipated that he might need to present evidence regarding the program because of the State's stipulation. (R.8, 11). The judge did not grant a continuance, but said "you can file any motion you want. In fact, I would recommend perhaps that you file the notice of appeal." (R.8, 11). While counsel did not file a motion to reconsider, he did file a timely notice of appeal. (R.1, 81).

Jurisdiction

Generally, appellate courts lack jurisdiction to review a felony conviction sentence that either lies within the presumptive sentence range or results from a plea agreement. *E.g. State v. Edie*, 2016 WL 6568557, *1, 383 P.3d 719 (Kan.App. 2016) (*rev. denied* July 31, 2017) (unpublished), citing K.S.A. 2015 Supp. 21-6820(c) and *State v. Sprung*, 294 Kan. 300, 317, 277 P.3d 1100 (2012). Usually when a sentencing judge declines to make border-box findings and imposes a presumptive prison sentence, appellate courts lack jurisdiction. *State v. Edie*, 2016 WL 6568557 at *1. However, when a defendant argues that the sentencing judge refused to consider a request for a discretionary, non-presumptive sentence which the court had authority to consider, appellate courts may address whether the district court judge appropriately interpreted the sentencing statute. *State v. Warren*, 297 Kan. 881, 885, 304 P.3d 1288 (2013).

The *Warren* exception applies to this case. The district judge refused to consider a request for a discretionary non-presumptive probation sentence because the district judge refused to consider the stipulation of the parties as evidence. The judge misinterpreted the statute to require prison time. His comments show that he understood a probation sentence would only result from a choice by “the Court to ignore the law.” (R.8, 10). His other comments further illustrate a misinterpretation of the statute: “I just don’t see any reasons for the Court to use any discretion not to follow the law on this case.” (R.8, 11).

But a judge does not “ignore the law” or refuse “to follow the law” when he grants probation rather than prison after making the statutory findings in a border box case. Instead, the statute authorizes the judge to grant probation after making specific factual findings that the parties stipulated to in this case. K.S.A. 21-6804(q).

This “optional nonprison sentence” is a discretionary non-presumptive sentence within the *Warren* exception. Prison time is the presumptive sentence for a border box case because a non-prison sentence requires certain findings. *See* K.S.A. 21-6804(q). The statutory language “the court may impose” authorizes the court to impose an optional nonprison sentence using its discretion.

This case is within the *Warren* exception granting appellate courts jurisdiction to review a judge’s misinterpretation of a sentencing statute. Under *Warren*, this Court can reach the merits of Ms. Stewart’s argument in this case.

Standard of Review

Whether or not appellate courts have jurisdiction is a question of law subject to de novo review. *State v. Key*, 298 Kan. 315, 318, 312 P.3d 355 (2013). Appellate courts

apply an abuse of discretion standard to review sentences. *See State v. Mosher*, 299 Kan. 1, 2, 319 P.3d 1253 (2014). An abuse of discretion occurs when an action is “(1) arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable; (2) based on an error of law; or (3) based on an error of fact.” *State v. Huckey*, 51 Kan. App. 2d 451, 454, 348 P.3d 997 (2015) (citing *Fischer v. State*, 296 Kan. 808, Syl. ¶ 8, 295 P.3d 560 [2013]).

Analysis

The district judge abused his discretion when he imposed a prison sentence rather than probation. The judge’s choice to impose a prison sentence was unreasonable and based errors of both law and fact.

A. The judge chose to impose a prison sentence based on an error of law.

The judge misinterpreted the statute to require prison time because he described a probation sentence as a result from a choice by “the Court to ignore the law.” (R.8, 10). He also declined to make findings necessary to grant probation saying, “I just don’t see any reasons for the Court to use any discretion not to follow the law on this case.” (R.8, 11).

But a judge does not “ignore the law” or refuse “to follow the law” when he grants probation rather than prison after making the statutory findings in a border box case. K.S.A. 21-6804(q) specifically authorizes the judge to grant probation after making the factual findings that the parties stipulated to in this case. Instead of understanding a probation sentence as a legal sentence after making certain findings, the judge treated a probation sentence as a departure or a result contrary to law. The statutory language

believes that understanding. K.S.A. 21-6804(f), (g). The judge made an error of law when he misunderstood the sentencing statute to require prison time.

B. The judge chose to impose a prison sentence based on an error of fact.

The judge chose to impose a prison sentence because “there has been no evidence presented” to make the statutory findings needed to grant probation (R.8, 9). But the parties’ stipulation that drug treatment programs were available and that Ms. Stewart would be amendable to treatment was the only relevant evidence before the district judge.

Parties are bound by their stipulations. *E.g. State v. Downey*, 27 Kan. App. 2d 350, 359, 2 P.3d 191, *rev. denied* 269 Kan. 936 (2000). As such, the State would not have been permitted to present evidence contrary to the stipulation. Further, a stipulation relieves the parties of the need to present further evidence. *See State v. Couse*, 281 P.3d 597, 2012 WL 3135490 (2012), *rev. denied* July 19, 2013 (unpublished).¹ If the district judge required more evidence than the parties’ statements and the stipulation, he abused his discretion by refusing to grant the continuance. A continuance would have allowed the parties an opportunity to produce that evidence. The parties did not present evidence because they anticipated the stipulation would be sufficient.

While Ms. Stewart made statements regarding drug treatment programs, her statements did not contradict the stipulation. (R.8, 7). In fact, Ms. Stewart stated “I will plan to do the START program and attend meetings and try to get help.” (R.8, 7). She also explained she had not already completed the program “because while in RDU in

¹ A copy of this opinion is attached as Appendix A.

prison they came and got me here for this case, so I didn't even get to finish RDU yet.” (R.8, 7). The stipulation by the parties was not contradicted by any evidence.

While the judge described Ms. Stewart's criminal history and the special rule as reasons to impose a prison sentence, the state waived applicability of the special rule and the legislature contemplated Ms. Stewart's criminal history when it made the sentencing grid. Further, the judge should not have relied on pending charges against Ms. Stewart when he issued his sentence. Ms. Stewart had not yet been found guilty in any of those cases, and she should not be punished in this case merely for being charged in another.

The judge's statement that no evidence presented supported the necessary statutory findings to grant probation was an error of fact. This factual error tainted his decision to impose a prison sentence.

C. The judge chose to impose a prison sentence unreasonably.

The district judge's decision to impose a prison sentence was unreasonable because it was based on both factual and legal errors. The joint stipulation by the parties provided a proper basis to grant probation. The judge's comments illustrate his misunderstanding of the sentencing statute and misunderstanding of the relevant facts. Choosing to impose a prison sentence when the only evidence available supports making statutory findings to grant a nonprison sentence instead, and when the State agrees to a nonprison sentence is an unreasonable decision.

CONCLUSION

The district court judge abused his discretion by imposing a prison term. This Court should vacate Ms. Stewart's sentence and remand for resentencing.