No. 19-120555-A 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 
OF THE STATE OF KANSAS 

STATE OF KANSAS 
Plain tiff-Appellee 

v. 

REBECCA ANN STEWART 
Defendant-Appellant 

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

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

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES 

Issue: This Court lacks jurisdiction to review Stewart's claim because 
she received a presumptive sentence. Alternatively, the 
district court did not abuse its discretion when it sentenced 
Stewart to serve her underlying prison sentence. 

Jurisdiction 

This Court lacks jurisdiction to review Stewart's claim because she received a 

presumptive sentence. Whether jurisdiction exists is a question oflaw over which 

this Court has unlimited review. State v. Berreth, 294 Kan. 98, 109, 273 P.3d 752 

(2012). 

Here, Stewart pied guilty to a severity level five drug felony and had a 

criminal history score of "D." This placed Stewart's presumptive sentence in the 5-

D box-a border box-on the drug offense sentencing grid. K.S.A. 21-6805(d), the 

sentencing guidelines grid for drug crimes, states: 

Each grid block states the presumptive sentencing range for an offender 
whose crime of conviction and criminal history place such offender in 
that grid block. If an offense is classified in a grid block below the 
dispositional line, the presumptive disposition shall be 
nonimprisonment. If an offense is classified in a grid block above the 
dispositional line, the presumptive disposition shall be imprisonment. If 
an offense is classified in grid blocks 4-E, 4-F, 4-G, 4-H, 4-I, 5-C or 5-D, 
the court may impose an optional nonprison sentence as provided in 
subsection (q) of K.S.A. 21-6804, and amendments thereto. 

K.S.A. 21-6804(q) states with respect to a border box sentence: "Any decision 

made by the court regarding the imposition of an optional nonprison sentence shall 

not be considered a departure and shall not be subject to appeal." Thus, when 

considering an appeal, imposing incarceration in a border box case constitutes a 

presumptive sentence. K.S.A. 21-6804(q); State v. Whitlock, 36 Kan. App. 2d 556, 
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559, 142 P.3d 334, rev. denied 282 Kan. 796 (2006). Here, the district court declined 

to make border box findings and imposed a presumptive prison sentence of 23 

months. Stewart received a presumptive sentence, and presumptive sentences are 

not subject to appeal. Thus, this Court is without jurisdiction to address the issue. 

There is, however, an exception to this general rule. An appellate court may 

review the limited question of whether a district court misinterpreted its sentencing 

authority under the Kansas Sentencing Guidelines Act. State v. Morningstar, 299 

Kan. 1236, Syl. ,r 1, 329 P.3d 1093 (2014). Here, Stewart contends that the district 

court refused to consider a request for a discretionary probation sentence because it 

refused to consider the stipulation of the parties as evidence and misinterpreted its 

authority under K.S.A. 21-6804(q) with regard to the findings required to be made 

in support of the discretionary imposition of a nonprison sentence. See State v. 

Warren, 297 Kan. 881, 885, 304 P.3d 1288 (2013). (Appellant's Brief, 4.) 

The district court's language, taken in context, however, does not 

demonstrate a misinterpretation of the statute. In sentencing Stewart to prison 

time, the district court explicitly referred to the findings that must be made under 

K.S.A. 21-6804(q) in order to sentence Stewart to an "optional nonprison sentence." 

K.S.A. 21-6804(q). K.S.A. 21-6804(q) states, in relevant part: 

(q) As used in this section, an "optional nonprison sentence" is a sentence 
which the court may impose, in lieu of the presumptive sentence, upon 
making the following findings on the record: 

(1) An appropriate treatment program exists which is likely to be 
more effective than the presumptive prison term in reducing the 
risk of offender recidivism; and 
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(2) the recommended treatment program is available and the 
offender can be admitted to such program within a reasonable 
period of time; or 

(3) the nonprison sanction will serve community safety interests 
by promoting offender reformation. 

The district court specifically stated that there was "no evidence presented 

that an appropriate treatment program exists which is likely to be more effective 

than the presumptive prison term and reducing the risk of offender recidivism and 

that that program is available," nor "any evidence that the non-prison sanction 

would serve community safety interests by promoting offender reformation." (R. 8, 

9.) The district court quoted directly from K.S.A. 21-6804(q)(l)-(3). 

The district court's comment that "it just does not appear to me that this is a 

case for probation for the Court to ignore the law," in context, is referring to the fact 

that prison remains the presumptive disposition for a border box defendant and 

that a district court "may" impose a nonprison sentence if certain findings are 

found. The district court's statement directly after that, "[a] border box, in fact, is 

supposed to be a prison sentence," further supports this notion. The district court 

properly stated prison is the presumptive disposition in a 5-D border box sentence 

and that this case was not one in which the district court could make the required 

findings to impose an optional nonprison sentence under the sentencing guidelines. 

Moreover, the district court concluded, "I just don't see any reasons for the 

Court to use any discretion not to follow the law on this case." (R. 8, 11-12.) The 

district court quoted directly from the statute authorizing border box sentences and 

explicitly acknowledged its discretion under the statute. Given the district court's 
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unequivocal statements regarding the statute and its discretion, it cannot be said 

that the district court failed to understand that it had the discretion to sentence 

Stewart to a nonprison sentence. More likely, the district court was stating that it 

did not have the evidence needed to make the findings required under K.S.A. 21-

6804( q) in order to impose a nonprison sentence. The district court understood it 

had the discretion to impose a nonprison sentence and chose not to use its discretion 

based solely on the parties' stipulation. As such, no exception applies, and this 

Court does not have jurisdiction to hear this appeal. 

Standard of Review 

The district court has discretion in border box cases to impose incarceration 

or probation. State v. Colbert, 24 Kan. App. 2d 756, 757, 953 P.2d 1058 (1998). An 

abuse of discretion occurs when judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or 

unreasonable; is based on an error of law; or is based on an error of fact. State v. 

Mosher, 299 Kan. 1, 3, 319 P.3d 1253 (2014). The party asserting that the district 

court abused its discretion bears the burden of showing an abuse of discretion. 

State v. Stafford, 296 Kan. 25, 45, 290 P.3d 562 (2012). 

Argument 

Even if this court had jurisdiction to review Stewart's sentence, there was no 

abuse of discretion in the district court's decision. 

A. The district court's decision was not based on an error of law. 

As argued in the "Jurisdiction" section above, the district court did not 

misinterpret the sentencing statute on border box sentences or make an error of 
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law. The district court's references to "ignore to the law" refer to disregarding the 

presumptive disposition of a prison sentence in a border box sentence and making 

the necessary findings to impose a nonprison sentence. 

The district court's comment that "it just does not appear to me that this is a 

case for probation for the Court to ignore the law," in context, is referring to the 

"law" that prison remains the presumptive disposition for a 5-D border box 

defendant. Here, the district court's reference to the "law" was the prison sentence 

that is the presumptive disposition in a border box case. The district court's 

"ignoring the law" comment meant bypassing the presumptive prison sentence and 

making the required findings to impose a nonprison sentence when certain findings 

are found. The district court's statement directly after that, "[a] border box, in fact, 

is supposed to be a prison sentence," further supports this notion. The district court 

properly stated prison is the presumptive disposition in this case, and that this case 

was not one in which the district court could make the required findings to impose 

an optional nonprison sentence under the sentencing guidelines. 

Moreover, the district court concluded, "I just don't see any reasons for the 

Court to use any discretion not to follow the law on this case." (R. 8, 11-12.) The 

district court explicitly acknowledged its discretion under the statute. Given the 

district court's unequivocal statements regarding the statute and its discretion, it 

cannot be said that the district court failed to understand that it had the discretion 

to sentence Stewart to a nonprison sentence. More likely, the district court was 

stating that it did not have the evidence needed to make the findings required 
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under K.S.A. 21-6804(q) in order to impose a nonprison sentence. The district court 

understood it had the discretion to impose a nonprison sentence and chose not to 

use its discretion. Therefore, the district court's decision to sentence Stewart to the 

presumptive disposition of prison was not based on an error oflaw. 

B. The district court's decision was not based on an error of fact. 

Next, Stewart argues that the district court's statement that "there has been 

no evidence presented" to make the statutory findings required to grant a nonprison 

sentence was an error of fact because the parties stipulated that "drug treatment 

programs were available and that Ms. Stewart would be amenable to treatment." 

(Appellant's Brief, 6.) 

The State acknowledges that stipulations of fact are binding on parties as 

evidence at criminal trials. White v. State, 222 Kan. 709, 713, 568 P.2d 112 (1977); 

State v. Downey, 27 Kan. App. 2d 350, 359, 2 P.3d 191, rev. denied 269 Kan. 936 

(2000). That being said, the stipulation must state certain facts for the district 

court to accept as true. Specifically, here, the fact that an appropriate treatment 

program existed which is likely to be more effective than the presumptive prison 

term and reducing the risk of fender recidivism, and the program was available to 

Stewart once she had served her sentence in the Johnson County case. Also 

notably, the Downey case cited by Stewart dealt with the sufficiency of a stipulation 

of evidence to find a defendant guilty of certain crimes at a bench trial, not a 

stipulation for a sentencing recommendation that required specific findings to be 

made on the record in order to impose that sentence. 27 Kan. App. 2d at 351-56. 
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Here, the stipulation in the plea agreement stated, "the parties have agreed 

to stipulate that I meet border box criteria to receive an opportunity for probation 

after I am released from the Department of Corrections in my Johnson County 

case." (R. 1, 56.) At the sentencing hearing, the State's recommended sentence was 

"that I will stipulate to the proposed criteria for treatment." (R. 8, 5.) Defense 

counsel also stated that the intent of the sentencing agreement was to "let her serve 

out her 44-month DOC sentence in the Johnson County case, and then give her an 

opportunity for a border box probation after that with - she obviously needs 

treatment." (R. 8, 6.) 

The stipulation failed to include the specific facts that an appropriate 

treatment program existed which is likely to be more effective than the presumptive 

prison term and reducing the risk of fender recidivism, and the program was 

available to Stewart once she had served her sentence in the Johnson County case. 

Simply put, the district court found that the stipulation itself was insufficient for it 

to make the necessary findings to impose the optional nonprison sentence. The 

district court found that the stipulation was insufficient, not that additional 

evidence is required even when the parties have stipulated. And while Stewart's 

statements that there was a treatment program in prison that she was going to 

begin did not contradict the stipulation, it did not provide the necessary facts that a 

treatment program existed, was available to her, and that it was likely to be more 

effective than the presumptive prison term in reducing recidivism. (R. 8, 7.) As 
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such, the district court's statement that there had been no evidence to support the 

necessary statutory findings was not an error of fact. 

Additionally, even if the stipulation had set forth the necessary facts to 

support the statutory findings, the district court was not required to accept the 

stipulation. See U.S. v. Stern, 13 F.3d 489, 498 (1st Cir. 1994) (district court is not 

required to accept stipulation on issue of fact pertinent to sentencing). Also, 

Stewart was informed that the district court did not have to follow any sentencing 

recommendations by the parties. This was set forth in the written plea agreement 

and stated by the district court at the plea hearing. (R. 1, 54; R. 5, 6-7.) Therefore, 

even if there was a sufficient stipulation, the district court was not required to 

accept it. 

Stewart's next assertion, made without citation to any legal authority, that 

the district court should not have relied on the pending charges in Labette and 

Neosho counties when it imposed her sentence, also fails. See State v. Torres, 280 

Kan. 309, 331, 121 P.3d 429 (2005) (simply pressing a point without pertinent 

authority is akin to failing to brief an issue and where the appellant fails to brief an 

issue that issue is waived or abandoned). A sentencing court has discretion to 

consider any circumstance that provides a more complete and accurate picture of a 

defendant's background, history, or behavior. State v. Garza, 290 Kan. 1021, 1034-

35, 236 P.3d501 (2010). Thus, the district court properly considered Stewart's 

numerous other pending cases in determining whether probation or prison was an 

appropriate sentence in this case. 
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Stewart also argues that if the district court required more evidence than the 

parties' statements and stipulation, it abused its discretion by refusing to grant 

defense counsel's request for a continuance. K.S.A. 22-3401 provides that the 

district court may grant a continuance "for good cause shown," and that provision is 

applicable to sentencing hearings. See State v. Beaman, 295 Kan. 853, 862-63, 286 

P.3d 876 (2012). In a criminal case, the decision to continue a case lies within the 

sound discretion of the district court. State v. Cook, 281 Kan. 961, 986, 135 P.3d 

1147 (2006). An appellate court will not disturb a district court's ruling on a motion 

for a continuance unless the defendant can show that the district court abused its 

discretion and prejudiced his or her substantial rights. State v. Carter, 284 Kan. 

312, 318-19, 160 P.3d 457 (2007). 

In State v. Borders, 255 Kan. 871, 875, 879 P.2d 620 (1994), our Supreme 

Court held: absent some proffer that the defendant had evidence to present in 

mitigation of the sentence, the district court's denial of the continuance was not 

reversible error. 255 Kan. at 880 (citing K.S.A. 60-405: A verdict or finding shall 

not be set aside, nor shall the judgment or decision based thereon be reversed, by 

reason of the erroneous exclusion of evidence unless it appears of record that the 

proponent of the evidence ... made known the substance of the evidence .... ). 

Here, Stewart's attorney did not proffer any specific evidence that he would 

have presented to establish that an appropriate treatment program exists which is 

likely to be more effective than the presumptive prison term in reducing the risk of 

offender recidivism, that the program was available, and that Stewart could be 
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admitted to the program after she served her sentence in the Johnson County case. 

(R. 8, 10-11.) While Stewart's attorney stated that he could present that evidence, 

he failed to make any proffer to the district court of what he could present if given a 

continuance. (R. 8, 10-11.) Nor did Stewart file a motion after sentencing to set 

forth such a proffer. Thus, Stewart fails to establish how she was prejudiced by the 

district court's denial of the request for a continuance. 

If, however, this Court finds that the district court made an error of fact, the 

State acknowledges that it remains bound by its stipulation in the plea agreement 

to "stipulate that [Stewart met] border box criteria to receive an opportunity for 

probation after [Stewart is] released from the Department of Corrections in [her] 

Johnson County case." And the State has no opposition to the presentation of 

additional evidence if a remand occurs. 

C. The district court's decision was not unreasonable. 

Lastly, Stewart appears to simply reassert that the district court's decision 

was based on an error of law and an error of fact. In determining whether a district 

court abuses its discretion under this prong, this Court must conclude that no 

reasonable person would take the view adopted by the district court. See State v. 

Huddleston, 298 Kan. 941, 960, 318 P.3d 140 (2014). Given the insufficient 

stipulation and the sentencing court's discretion to consider any circumstance that 

provides a more complete and accurate picture of a defendant's background, history, 

or behavior, i.e., Stewart's criminal history and unsuccessful probation in Johnson 
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county, it cannot be said that no reasonable person would reject the parties' 

stipulation and sentence Stewart to the presumptive prison term. 

CONCLUSION 

For the above reasons, the State respectfully requests that the Kansas Court 

of Appeals dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction or, alternatively, affirm 

Stewart's sentence as there was no abuse of discretion by the district court.